#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

GALANTE ROMAR PHILLIPS,

Appellant,

v. CASE NO. SC08-1882

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, FLORIDA

## INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

NANCY A. DANIELS
PUBLIC DEFENDER
SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

W. C. McLAIN
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER
LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE
SUITE 401
301 SOUTH MONROE STREET
TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301
BILLMC@leoncountyfl.gov
(850) 606-1000

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT FLA. BAR NO. 201170

#

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The record on appeal consists of 21 volumes. Volumes 1-9 contain the records of the lower court and transcripts of some hearings. These volumes will be referenced with the prefix "R." Volumes 10-21 contain the transcripts the court reporter prepared including jury selection, the guilt and penalty phases of the trial, sentencing and various hearing transcripts. The prefix "T" will be used to reference these volumes. A supplemental record containing the <a href="Spencer">Spencer</a> hearing will be referenced with the prefix "SR." Two separately numbered volumes contain copies of certain exhibits. The exhibits will be reference with the exhibit number assigned in the trial court during the proceedings. The appendix to this brief is a copy of the trial court's sentencing order.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

## Procedural Progress Of The Case

On November 29, 2006, a Duval County grand jury indicted Galante Romar Phillips for first degree murder for the shooting death of Christopher Aligada and for the armed robbery of Wilbur Sweet. (R1:25-26) Both offenses allegedly occurred on October 18, 2005. (R1:25-26) The indictment superseded an information for second degree murder and armed robbery filed on October 25, 2006. (R1:8-9)The State filed its notice of intent to seek a death sentence on December 8, 2006. (R1:36) Phillips proceeded to a jury trial, and on April 9, 2008, the jury returned guilty verdicts on both counts of the indictment. (R6:1111-1113) After the penalty phase held on April 22-23, 2008, the same jury recommended a death sentence with a vote of 7 to 5. (R7:1352-1354) At a Spencer hearing held on June 26, 2008, Phillips presented one additional witness. (R7:1380; SR1:1-62) The court permitted additional argument as a continued Spencer hearing on August 1, 2008. (R7:1381-1393; T20:1315-1330)

Circuit Judge Mallory D. Cooper adjudged Phillips guilty and imposed sentence on September 19, 2008. (R8:1406-1422; T21:1335-1354) (copy of sentencing order attached as an appendix to this brief) The court sentenced Phillips to death for the murder and life in prison for the robbery. (R8:1406-1422; T21:1335-1354) In

support of the death sentence, the court found three aggravating circumstances: (1) Phillips had a previous conviction for a violent felony; (2) the homicide was committed during a robbery; and (3) the homicide was committed to avoid arrest. (R:1414-1416) The Court addressed 25 nonstatutory mitigating circumstances the Defense presented and entered findings as follows:

- (1) The defendant experienced frequent moves and changes in home and schools as a child. (slight weight)
- (2) The defendant suffered from childhood mental illness. (slight weight)
- (3) The defendant suffered from adult mental illness. (not found)
- (4) The defendant suffered from childhood learning disabilities. (slight weight)
- (5) The defendant's childhood attention-deficit drug, Ritalin, was not administered as prescribed. (slight weight)
- (6) The defendant's birth was a difficult one and the defendant did not breathe for a period of time. (slight weight)
- (7) The defendant was raised in drug and crime infested neighborhoods. (slight weight)
- (8) The defendant was raised by a mentally ill mother. (some weight)

- (9) The defendant was raised without any stable father figure. (slight weight)
- (10) The defendant was openly disfavored as a child. (slight weight)
- (11) The defendant was deprived of food and clothing as a child. (little weight)
- (12) The defendant suffered physical abuse as a child. (some weight)
- (13) The defendant suffered mental abuse as a child. (moderate weight)
- (14) The defendant suffered the loss of his grandmother, the only adult who loved him as a child, when the defendant was ten. (moderate weight)
  - (15) The defendant was raised in poverty. (slight weight)
- (16) The defendant suffered devastating on-the-job injury. (slight weight)
  - (17) The defendant is reverent. (slight weight)
- (18) The defendant is trustworthy with family members. (not found)
- (19) The defendant is supportive of family members. (not found)
- (20) The defendant is protective of family members. (not found)

- (21) The defendant respects and helps elderly persons. (slight weight)
  - (22) The defendant is kind to animals. (slight weight)
- (23) The defendant respects the jury and the judicial system. (slight weight)
  - (24) The defendant is friendly. (slight weight)
- (25) The defendant is remorseful. (not found) (R8:1416-1420)

Phillips filed his notice of appeal to this Court on October 1, 2008. (R8:1430)

## Motion To Strike Jury Panel

On the first day of trial after jury selection, three jurors observed Phillips being escorted in a courthouse hallway in handcuffs and wearing a jail uniform. (T12:328-356) Although Phillips changed clothing before entering the courtroom, he was not allowed to change clothes before walking through the courthouse hallways. The trial court inquired of the jurors to determine who may have seen Phillips in jail clothes. Three jurors said they saw him, and the court questioned each individually. (T12:347-354) Juror Staplefoote testified that he was in the designated waiting area for jurors when he saw Phillips walking in the hallway before he changed his clothing into the suit he wore in court. (T12:348-349) Staplefoote said he could set aside the observation and

would not use it in reaching a decision on a verdict. (T12:349) Juror Shelly stated she saw Phillips in the hallway and noticed he wore different clothing, a green uniform. (T12:349-350) The uniform indicated to her that he was in jail. (T12:351) She thought he would have been permitted to change into different clothes before being brought to court. (T12:351) She said she could set aside the observation in reaching a verdict in the case. (T12:350-352) Juror McNamara testified he saw Phillips in a green jail prisoner uniform in the hallway outside the courtroom. (T12:352-353) He told the court he could set aside the observation in reaching a verdict. (T12:354)

Defense counsel moved to strike the jury panel on the ground that these jurors knew Phillips was a prisoner and might believe he was incarcerated for another offense besides the case being tried. (T12:354) The court delayed ruling, and, later, the court denied the motion. (T12:354-356, 488-491)

## Facts - Guilt Phase

Wilbur Sweet worked as a yard manager at a lumber company, Builder's First Source in Jacksonville. (T12:374-375) On Tuesday, October 18, 2005, Sweet left work about 8:30 p.m. (T12:376) About twelve employees were leaving work at that time. (T12:378) Sweet's supervisor and friend, Christopher Aligada, was also walking to the parking lot. (T12:379-380) Since Sweet thought he was going to

complete the purchase of a car from another employee, Landon King, he had \$3100 in cash with him that day. (T12:377; 438-441) Sweet went to his burgundy Yukon SUV in the fenced parking area, and cranked the vehicle. (T12:380) The Yukon had been stolen a couple of weeks earlier, and due to damage, Sweet had to crank the vehicle from the outside using a screwdriver. (T12:380, 398)

As Sweet turned to enter the vehicle, a man with a gun confronted him and demanded his money. (T12:380-381) described the man as a black male with a medium build, wearing a white tank top with shorts and using a .357 magnum pistol. (T12: 381, 385-386) In court, he identified Phillips as the man. (T12:380-381) At first, Sweet said he had no money, but the man pointed the gun, said give me the money and he went into Sweet's pocket and took the money. (T12:382) He also took Sweet's wallet. (T12:382) After taking the money, the man turned the gun away from Sweet and fired two shots. (T12:382-383, 400-401) Sweet was facing the man and did not see where he fired. (T12:383) realized that Chris Aligada had been shot. (T12:383) The shots happened quickly, spontaneously -- apparently because the man saw Aligada coming toward them from the side. (T12:403) away, jumped across a parked car and the man shot in his direction. When the shooting stopped, Sweet ran to another car and (T12:384)hid under it. (T12:384) Sweet then saw the man driving away in the

burgundy Yukon. (T12:384) About 20 yards away toward the entrance to the building, Sweet saw Aligada on the ground. (T12:384) He ran to him, and then he ran to the building to call for help. (T12:384) Sweet returned to Aligada, saw an injury to his arm and wrapped it with a shirt. (T12:385) When the bleeding did not stop, Sweet also saw an injury to Aligada's side. (T12:385) The police and rescue personnel arrived and took Aligada to the hospital. (T12:385)

Two employees, Tim Long and Mark Walton, testified they saw someone they did not recognize in the fenced parking area that evening. (T12:407-413, 421-422) Long described the man as a bigger individual, muscular and about 240 pounds. (T12:411) Walton described the man as younger, short hair and stocky. (T12:426) He seemed suspicious just waiting in the parking lot. (T12:418-421) Walton saw the man and Sweet interacting and Aligada walking toward Sweet. (T12:422-424) He heard two gunshots. (T12:422, 424) Aligada ran and then fell to the ground. (T12:424) Walton heard three shots fired and the man shot at Sweet. (T12:427, 432) Walton was scared, ran to his truck, and drove down a service road heading back to the building to call for help. (T12:425) As he drove, he saw the man driving Sweet's vehicle. (T12:425)

Officer C.P. James arrived at the lumber company. T12:442-445)

After talking to witnesses, he had a BOLO broadcast with a description of the suspect and Wilbur Sweet's vehicle. (T12: 445-

As he responded to the scene, Officer James Carter found the burgundy Yukon abandoned in the street a few blocks from the lumber company. (T12:448-451) He remained with the Yukon and secured it until crime scene personnel towed the vehicle. (T12:451-454)

Crime scene investigators recovered evidence from the parking lot of the lumber company and the Yukon. (12:458-478) A blue car located in the parking lot had been damaged by a gunshot. (T12:468-472) There was a bullet hole in the car door and a broken window. (T12:468-472) Bullet fragments were recovered from the vehicle, and these were submitted to FDLE for examination. (T12:471-472) The investigators processed the burgundy Yukon belonging to Wilbur Sweet for latent fingerprints and possible DNA evidence. (T12:472-478)

Dr. Eugene Scheuerman received Aligada's body from the hospital and performed an autopsy on October 19, 2005. (T12:492, 495-497) Scheuerman concluded the death was a homicide caused by a gunshot wound to the abdomen. (T12:497) A gunshot wound passed through the upper left arm and a second wound entered the upper left flank. (T12:497-502, 506) Due to the location and irregular shape of the wound entering the body, Scheuerman concluded a single bullet traveled through the arm and into the body. (T12:497-502, 506) Bullet fragments were found inside the body and collected for evidence. (T12:503-504)

A firearm and tool mark expert with FDLE, Maysaa Farhat, examined the bullet fragments from the car and from the body of Aligada. (T13:547, 550-554) She determined that a fragment from the car and a fragment recovered at autopsy were fired from the same firearm that was either a .38 or .357 magnum revolver. (T13:550-557)

Katrina Joyce was Galante Phillips girlfriend and lived with him from August 2005 through October 2005, and she continued to date him for a time after October. (T13:528-529) Near the end of October, Phillips told her that he robbed someone and shot a person who tried "to be a hero" and stop the robbery. (T13:532) He said the robbery occurred in a parking lot. (T13:532-533) Joyce moved to Virginia in March of 2006. (T13:533) After talking to her sister about Phillips' statements to her, Joyce called the Jacksonville Sheriff's Office and spoke to Detective Scott Dingee. (T13:533-535, 639-640) On July 25, 2006, Dingee arranged for Joyce to see Phillips. (T13:535) Joyce also consented to have her conversation with Phillips recorded. (T13:535-536, 546, 640-641) Portions of the recorded conversation were played for the jury. (T13:536-542) (State Exhibit No. 32) During the conversation, Joyce brought up the subject of the robbery and shooting. (T13:5537-538) Phillips said the man tried to play hero and put himself in danger. (T13:540) Phillips said he had to shoot him to avoid others and himself from being placed in danger. (T13:540-541) The money from the robbery was split among three people. (T13:541)

Leigh Clark, an expert with the FDLE DNA section tested various swabbed samples taken from the Yukon for DNA profiles. (T13:562, 579) She made comparisons to test to the known DNA profiles of Aligada, Sweet and Phillips. (T13:584) Partial DNA profiles were found on the steering wheel (State Exhibit 35), the gear shift (State Exhibit 36), and the armrest (State Exhibit 37). (T13: 580-589) These DNA profiles contained mixtures of more than one person's DNA. (T13:581-582) The testing of the steering wheel sample excluded Aligada, but neither Sweet nor Phillips could be excluded. (T13:585-586) (State Exhibit 35) However, a profile match could not be made to either Sweet or Phillips. (T13:585-586) gear shift revealed a mixture of profiles. (T13:587-588) (State Exhibit 36) The minor contributor could not be matched to anyone, but Sweet could not be excluded. (T13:587-588) Phillips' DNA matched as the major contributor to the mixture. (T13:588-599) Testing of the armrest sample revealed insufficient information to match the partial profiles. (T13:586-587) (State Exhibit 37) Sweet could not be excluded. (T13:586-587) However, both Phillips and Aligada were excluded. (T13:586-587)

Detective Scott Dingee interviewed Phillips on October 4, 2006. (T13:635, 645) The interview was videotaped and played for

jury. (T13:650-713) After being confronted with the information the detective had available, including the recorded conversation Phillips had with Katrina Joyce, Phillips admitted his culpability for the offense. (T13:654-664) The detective suspected that others were involved, since in the conversation with Katrina Joyce, Phillips mentioned splitting the money. (T13:668) Phillips denied anyone else was involved, and he said the money was not split. (T13:668-674, 679, 681-682) Phillips stated that he had talked to Aligada about obtaining a job at the lumber company a couple of weeks earlier. (T13:684-685, 701) Phillips said Aligada created a "situation" when he tried to take the gun from him. (T13:685) He said Aligada "rushed up on me" and attempted to grab the gun. (T13:685) Phillips had seen Sweet before the day of the offense, and he knew Sweet carried a large amount of money. (T13:687-688)Phillips knew Sweet's vehicle, and he followed Sweet to his work. (T13:689) When Aligada approached and grabbed for the qun, Phillips shot twice. (T13:690-691, 699) Phillips had a previously planned trip to Georgia, and he scattered the parts to the dismantled gun along the way. (T13:696-697)

# Penalty Phase And Sentencing

At the penalty phase, the State introduced a judgment for aggravated battery for an incident in 1996, where Phillips shot his aunt in the leg with a shotgun when he was 17-years-old. (T18:943-

960, 990) Phillips pled guilty to the offense as an adult and received a sentence of five years. (T18: 1005) His aunt, his mother, his sister and the arresting officer testified about the events. (T18:943-1003)

On October 14, 1996, Galante Phillips was living with his mother, Joanna Farns. (T18: 961-962) Farns had an argument with her son because he had a sawed-off shotgun someone had given him. (T18:964-965) He did not want to get rid of it, and he said he was keeping it for a friend. (T18:965) At one point, Galante pointed the gun at his mother, and she left. (T18:966-967) Farns contacted her sister, Sandra Tatum, through a niece. (T18:967) When Farns returned home, the police were there. (T18:968) She learned her sister had come to the house and had been shot in the legs with the shotgun. (T18:968)

Sandra Tatum, Phillips aunt, came to the house after receiving the information that her sister was having a confrontation with Galante. (T18:943-946, 950) Her sister, Joanna Farns, was already gone when she arrived. (T18:946) Tatum found Galante there with a shotgun. (T18:947, 950-952) She was perhaps five to seven feet away when the shotgun discharged and the pellets hit her in one leg. (T18:952-953) She did not remember Galante pointing the gun at her, and she believes the gun was pointed down and unintentionally fired. (T18:959) At the emergency room, Tatum had her leg

bandaged, and she was released. (T18:954-955) She denied she told the police that she had a heated argument with Galante or he had threatened anyone. (T18:957)

Dewanda Powe, Phillips' sister, was present at the residence at the time Sandra Tatum was shot. (T18:995-997) She lived with her father at the time, but happened to be at the house. (T18:1002) Galante had also called her and said their mother was "tripping." (T18:1003) Powe remembered the verbal confrontation between Galante and Tatum included a warning to Galante not to hurt his mother. (T18:997) Tatum kept her hand in her pocket where she kept her registered firearm. (T18:997-998) Powe did not tell the police at the time, because she was not asked. (T18:997) Tatum place her gun in the trunk of her car before the police arrived. (T18:999) Powe remembers Galante swinging the shotgun back and forth while Tatum confronted him, and the gun accidentally discharged. (T18:998, 1000)

Stephen Amos was the officer who arrested Phillips for the shooting of his aunt. (T18:975-976) According to his report, Sandra Tatum stated that she was shot in both calves of her legs after an argument with Phillips. (T18:977) Amos noted birdshot sized pellet wounds to Tatum's legs. (T18:977) Tatum and Dewanda Powe reported that Phillips pointed and fired the sawed-off shotgun

when five to seven feet away from Tatum. (T18:978-979) Phillips was 17-years-old at the time of his arrest. (T18:991)

In February 2006, Phillips pled guilty to a charge of grand theft for a 30 month sentence. (T18:1028) The State presented the testimony of Detective E.M. Cayenne to establish that the facts of the offense included the use of a firearm. (T18:1007) Phillips robbed the victim in a parking lot with a gun. (T18:1009-1010) A co-worker of the victim's pulled a gun and shot at Phillips. (T18:1010-1022) Phillips fired back, but no one was injured. (T18:1010, 1021-1022)

The State presented the testimony of three victim impact witnesses. Linda Aligada, the victim's mother, and Christina Aligada, the victim's neice, testified about the loss to the family. (T18:1029-1040) Wilbur Sweet, the victim of the robbery in this case and the friend of Aligada, testified about the loss of his friend and coworker. (T18:1041-1043)

Five witnesses testified for the defense at penalty phase. Phillips' mother, Joanna Farns, and sister, Dewanda Powe, testified about Phillips' background and childhood. (T18:1044; 1088) Zelana Duggins presented Phillips' school records. (T18:1079) Two psychiatrists testified -- Dr. Miguel Mandoki and Dr. Ernest Miller. (T19:1123; 1187)

Joanna Farns suffered from severe depression her entire life, and she shot herself in 1975, shortly before Galante was born. (T18:1044-1045) During Galante's birth, forceps were used to turn him, and he had trouble starting to breath after his birth. (T18:1048-1049) Galante lived with Farn's mother until he was eight-years-old. (T18:1047) Farns had difficulty raising Galante because of her depression and her crack cocaine addiction. (T18:1047-1049) Galante's father was a drug dealer, went to prison and ultimately, he was killed when Galante was six-years-old. (T18:1057) The only potential male role-model for Galante was Fred Powe, who was Galante's half-sister's father. (T18:1056) Fred Powe never lived in the same house -- he was around occasionally. (T18:1088-1089) Farns said when Galante was with her, they lived in four of five different houses. (T18: 1059-1060) All of the houses were in neighborhoods with a high levels of illegal drug activity. (T18: 1060)

Galante had learning difficulty and attended special education classes in school. (T18:1050) He was prescribed Ritalin for hyperactivity, but Galante did not want to take the medication. (T18:1052-1051) Farns and the school had difficulty getting Galante to take the medication properly. (T18:1051-1052) Dr. Mandoki lowered the dose, but Farns is not sure Galante took the medication. (T18:1053-1054)

After the shooting incident involving his aunt, Galante went to prison and returned to Farns' home when released. (T18:1066) He had difficulty finding work. (T18:1066-1067) A relative got Galante a job with the railroad. (T18:1067) Unfortunately, Galante was injured on the job. (T18:1068) Someone accidently backed over him in a truck, pushing him into a wall. (T18:1068) He required back surgery, and he never had another job. (T18:1068)

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