IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

GALANTE ROMAR PHILLIPS,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

Case No. SC08-1882

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

BILL McCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

STEPHEN R. WHITE ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Florida Bar No. 159089

Office of the Attorney General PL-01, The Capitol Tallahassee, Fl 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 Ext. 4579 (850) 487-0997 (FAX)

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

In <u>Hoskins v. State</u>, 965 So.2d 1, 20 (Fla. 2007), when the defendant opened the trunk of a car where he put the victim, he "could have fled in her car without killing her, but instead killed her and buried her in a shallow grave." Here, Phillips, knowing Aligada and even believing Aligada to be a decent person, "could have" simply told Aligada to halt or "could have" simply run away with the robbery booty; instead, Phillips turned towards Aligada, aimed and gunned him down. Here, even after shooting Mr. Aligada to the ground, he could have simply exited the scene with the booty; instead, he attempted to gundown the fleeing robbery victim, which further confirmed his dominant intent.

<u>Hoskins</u> cited <u>Knight v. State</u>, 746 So.2d 423, 435 (Fla. 1998), as supportive authority. In <u>Knight</u> and here, "Had the sole motive for the murders been financial gain, the defendant's purpose would have been accomplished upon the receipt of the money."

Thus, <u>Nelson</u>, 850 So.2d at 526, in addition to Nelson's statement, which alone was sufficient, discussed additional supportive facts showing "that Nelson probably could have accomplished the burglary of Brace's home and sexual battery without killing her since Brace likely posed little physical resistance to Nelson." Here, if Phillips had simply ordered Aligada to halt, he could have avoided shooting him. Indeed, here, Phillips already had Sweet's money, so he could have simply run away to avoid capture. Instead, Phillips eliminated Aligada's identification and attempted to eliminate Sweet's but Sweet jumped behind a car and literally "dodged a bullet."

<u>See also</u> <u>Davis v. State</u>, 698 So.2d 1182, 1193 (Fla. 1997) (upheld avoid arrest; "Davis admitted that he didn't want anybody to know that he had done something like that"; "He also admitted that he put her in the dumpster to enable him to get away before her body could be found"), <u>citing</u> <u>Swafford v. State</u>, 533 So.2d 270, 276 (Fla. 1988); <u>Cave v. State</u>, 476 So.2d 180, 188 (Fla. 1985); Routly v. State, 440 So.2d 1257, 1264 (Fla. 1983).

For the foregoing reasons, and as supported by the foregoing authorities, the trial court's finding of avoid-arrest is supported by competent substantial evidence and merits affirmance.

E. Phillips' Case Law, Not Applicable.

Phillips discusses (IB 30-31) four cases. None of them apply.

In <u>Urbin v. State</u>, 714 So.2d 411, 416 (Fla. 1998), unlike here there was testimonial and physical evidence of the shooting occurring during physical combat between the murder victim and the defendant. There, a witness testified that the defendant immediately after the shooting excitedly exclaimed that "the victim kicked him in the leg and that's when he shot him and that's when he ran." <u>Id</u>. at 413. Another witness testified that, immediately after the shooting and while "awful[ly] excited," Urbin said that "the victim tried to kick Urbin's legs out from under him. Urbin said he shot the victim at that point because he bucked and because he had seen his face." <u>Id</u>. The defendant told another person that "he had killed Hicks because he resisted the robbery." <u>Id</u>. Moreover, the medical evidence indicated that there was a physical struggle between the defendant and the victim: "A shooting during a scuffle was also indicated by the facial injuries." <u>Id</u>. at 416.

<u>Urbin</u> relied upon the repeated and consistent theme of the statements that the defendant spontaneously made to others while in an excited state immediately after the robbery and the supporting medical evidence: The dominant motive for the shooting was the victim resisting and physically

struggling with the defendant. This overriding theme of the victim's physical resistance placed the defendant's mentioning the victim seeing the defendant's face in a non-dominant role. Here, in contrast, Phillips shot the victim when he was several feet away, not in the midst of a physical struggle with the victim. Here, in contrast to Urbin, Phillips did not make several spontaneous statements immediately after the incident that diminished avoid-arrest as dominant. Here, in contrast to Urbin, Phillips need not have shot the victim at all to complete the robbery; he already had the robbery booty in-hand and could have simply run away. Here, in contrast to Urbin, Phillips not only did not leave with the booty, he also tried to kill Mr. Sweet who had seen him nearly face-to-face during the robbery. Here, in contrast to Urbin, Phillips not only mentioned his concern about witness identification, he also amplified the circumstances that supported his concern by discussing how he previously interacted with Mr. Aligada and how Aligada was in a much better position to identify him in the parking lot than those people who saw him sneaking in the shadows.

In sum, Urbin does not apply here.

<u>Cook v. State</u>, 542 So.2d 964, 966 (Fla. 1989), is also inapplicable. There, the operative facts included **physical confrontation** with one victim, unlike here, followed by **more physical contact** and also screaming by the avoid-arrest victim, unlike here:

When Cook continued to demand money, Mr. Betancourt [Victim1] hit him in the arm with a long metal rod and Cook shot him. Cook said he was on his way out when Mrs. Betancourt [Victim2] started screaming and grabbed him around his knees. He then shot her, ran out the back door, and fled with Harrison and Nairn. Cook told the police that he thought he had shot both of the victims in the arm. The physical evidence, as well as the trial testimony of Harrison and Nairn, were consistent with Cook's version of the shootings.

Given the operative facts in that case, Cook, 542 So.2d at 970,

reasoned:

Next Cook attacks the finding Mrs. Betancourt was killed to avoid arrest, arguing that his statement that he shot her 'to keep her quiet because she was yelling and screaming' was insufficient to support the trial court's findings. We agree. The facts of the case indicate that Cook shot instinctively, not with a calculated plan to eliminate Mrs. Betancourt as a witness.

In <u>Jackson v. State</u>, 502 So.2d 409, 410 (Fla. 1986), unlike here, the only evidence of a motive for the killing was a struggle over the robbery

money:

Herbert Phillibert, opened the cash register, Clinton produced a pistol and pointed it at Phillibert's head. Appellant reached around the cash register and began removing the money when Mr. Phillibert grabbed appellant, apparently in an attempt to retrieve some of his money. At this point Clinton leaned over the counter and fired a single, fatal shot into Mr. Phillibert. Approximately ten minutes later two customers entered the store and found Mr. Phillibert lying face-down behind the counter in a semi-conscious state clutching a five dollar bill in his hand.

Here, there was no such struggle for the money, and unlike <u>Jackson</u>, Phillips' motive was not mere "speculat[ion]," but rather proved several times over. Here, in contrast to <u>Jackson</u>, "Evidence adduced at trial revealed that ... appellant [did know] the victim," and the facts do demonstrate witness elimination as a dominant motive.

The only similarity between Phillips final case, <u>Rogers v. State</u>, 511 So.2d 526, 533 (Fla. 1987), and this case is that the defendant said "he shot the victim for trying to be a hero." Here, as discussed at length <u>supra</u>, Phillips said **AND** did much more than Rogers. One can have many reasons for shooting a "hero," including non-avoid-arrest reasons as well as, as supported here with competent substantial evidence, avoid-arrest reasons.

Any suggestion that avoid-arrest requires CCP-like calculation would gut the aggravator.¹¹ The avoid-arrest statute intends no such requirement, as stated in its plain language:

(e) The capital felony was committed for the purpose of avoiding or preventing a lawful arrest or effecting an escape from custody.

§921.141(e), Fla. Stat. The murderer can formulate this "purpose" as circumstances develop at the crime scene, for example where in <u>Consalvo</u> the victim who knows the burglar wakes up, or here where a co-worker who knows robber Phillips sees the robbery in progress. Here, all of the facts clearly provide competent substantial evidence showing that Phillips formulated a "purpose of avoiding or preventing a lawful arrest" and otherwise satisfied the applicable case law, as discussed in section ID supra:

- Phillips knew that Mr. Aligada knew him;
- Phillips shot the victim from a distance with no struggle;
- Robbery was completed when Phillips shot Mr. Aligada;
- Robbery was completed and Mr. Aligada was disabled when Phillips also tried to shoot the robbery victim; and,
- Multiple probative incriminating statements.

See supportive facts discussed at length multiple times, especially

section IC, supra.

 $^{^{11}}$ Facts showing calculated avoid-arrest may demonstrate CCP, but CCP-calculation is not required for avoid-arrest.

In sum, here there is more than the requisite competent substantial evidence supporting the trial court's finding of avoid arrest. Here, the evidence and the case law support the fining.

F. Harmless Error.

Although avoid-arrest applies, thereby rendering a harmless error analysis unnecessary and inapplicable, <u>arguendo</u>, any error in finding avoid-arrest would be harmless.

The trial court assigned "great weight" to each of the aggravating circumstances, including not only avoid arrest, but also prior violent felony (VIII 1415) and during the commission of an armed robbery (VIII 1415). Moreover, the trial court expressly found that each of the aggravating circumstances was so egregious that --

any of the considered aggravating circumstances found in this case, singularly applied to the victim and standing alone, would be sufficient to outweigh the mitigation in total presented regarding the murder of Christopher Aligada.

(VIII 1420) As such, any error was harmless. <u>See Carter v. State</u>, 980 So.2d 473, 483 (Fla. 2008) (alternatively finding that any error in finding either the "in the course of a burglary" or CCP aggravator or both would be harmless beyond a reasonable doubt when the trial court concluded that any of the considered aggravating circumstances found in this case, standing alone, would be sufficient to outweigh the mitigation; "We agree").

Indeed, here, prior violent felony, which the trial court gave great weight, is "one of the 'most weighty [aggravators] in Florida's sentencing calculus,'" Rodgers v. State, 948 So.2d 655, 670 (Fla. 2006), quoting

Sireci v. Moore, 825 So.2d 882, 887 (Fla. 2002).

Here, the prior-violent-felony aggravator was proved twice-over with incidents in which ---

1. Phillips shot his aunt in the legs with a sawed-off shotgun, requiring her to go to the hospital and for which Phillips was convicted of Aggravated Battery and received five years in prison with a three-year minimum mandatory for using a firearm (See XVIII 975-90; 1004-1005; Exh-II 142-47 see also XVIII 943-73, 994-1004); and.

2. About three months after he murdered Mr. Aligada, Phillips attempted to rob a victim at another job site and engaged in a gunfight with another Good Samaritan, firing 13 shots at the citizen but missing each time and fleeing, for which Phillips was allowed to plead guilty to Grand Theft (See XVIII 1007-1027, 1028; Exh II 148-52). See, e.g., Anderson v. State, 841 So. 2d 390, 407 (Fla. 2003) ("Whether a crime constitutes a prior violent felony is determined by the surrounding facts and circumstances of the prior crime"); Knight v. State, 770 So. 2d 663, 670 (Fla. 2000) ("proper to consider a subsequent crime as a prior violent felony").

Accordingly, <u>Rogers v. State</u>, 511 So.2d 526, 535 (Fla. 1987), held that erroneously finding three aggravating circumstances (avoid or prevent lawful arrest, CCP, pecuniary gain) was harmless where valid aggravation included "the murder was committed by one previously convicted of a violent felony, and that it occurred during flight from an attempted robbery" and mitigation was minimal, there "Rogers was a good father, husband and provider." Here, while the nonstatutory mitigation numbered 20, they were almost entirely "slight" in weight with none of them afforded great weight. (<u>See</u> VIII 1416-20; mitigation listed and categorized <u>supra</u> in Facts section "Sentencing and Attendant Trial Court Findings").

Bryant v. State, 901 So.2d 810, 829-30 (Fla. 2005), referred to this Court's direct appeal opinion at Bryant v. State, 785 So.2d 422, 426 (Fla. 2001), and rejected an IAC-appellate counsel claim based on lack of prejudice where the defendant's sentence would have been proportionate without an invalid avoid-arrest aggravator, with the prior violent felony aggravator, and where there was no statutory mitigation and minimal nonstatutory mitigation, like here:

The cases we cited all found the death penalty proportionate where the two aggravators of prior violent felony and crime committed for pecuniary gain were involved. Furthermore, two of the sentences were found proportional despite the existence of statutory mitigating circumstances. In Bryant's *case*, the court found no statutory mitigating circumstances and only a single nonstatutory mitigator remorse. 785 So.2d at 437. In light of our prior holdings, Bryant's sentence was proportional even without the 'avoid arrest' aggravator. Further, no reasonable possibility exists that the trial court would have found the evidence in mitigation sufficient to outweigh the two remaining aggravating circumstances. Therefore, no prejudice resulted from any error on the part of appellate counsel in not challenging the 'avoid arrest' aggravator on direct appeal.

901 So.2d at 829, <u>referencing</u> 785 So.2d at 436-37, <u>citing Pope v. State</u>, 679 So.2d 710 (Fla. 1996); <u>Melton v. State</u>, 638 So.2d 927 (Fla. 1994); Heath v. State, 648 So.2d 660 (Fla. 1994).

Here, like <u>Bryant</u>, aggravation includes prior violent felony as well as the aggravator of while engaged in the commission of or in an attempt to commit the crime of robbery. As discussed above, while Phillips' mitigation numbered more than Bryant's, it was nevertheless over-all weak. Moreover, here prior violent felony included a similar type of work-site robbery using deadly force and committing the robbery within a few months of this murder.

Aguirre-Jarquin v. State, 9 So.3d 593, 608 (Fla. 2009), held that even if the trial court erroneously found the avoid arrest/witness elimination aggravator, "any possible error was harmless because there was not a reasonable possibility that Aguirre would have received a life sentence without the trial court finding of the aggravator." While in <u>Aguirre-Jarquin</u> there was a nine-to-three jury recommendation of death, compared with a seven-to-five recommendation here, <u>Aguirre-Jarquin</u>, like here, included another aggravator that this Court has recognized as especially serious, there HAC and here prior violent felony. Moreover, here, the prior violent felony actually consisted of two prior violent felonies, each involving violence with a firearm. In <u>Aguirre-Jarquin</u> and here, the trial court assigned great weight to the other aggravating circumstances. Moreover, Aguirre-Jarquin's mitigation was more substantial than here:

(1) under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance (moderate weight); (2) substantially impaired ability to appreciate the criminality of his conduct (moderate weight); (3) age (24) (little weight); (4) long term substance abuse problem (moderate weight); (5) dysfunctional family setting (little weight); (6) childhood abuse (little weight); (7) poor performance in school (little weight); (8) brain damage from substance abuse (moderate weight).

<u>Aguirre-Jarquin</u>, 9 So.3d at 600 n.6. Here, as in <u>Aguirre-Jarquin</u>, any error finding avoid arrest was harmless.

In conclusion, there was more than competent substantial evidence supporting the finding of avoid arrest, and, <u>arguendo</u>, even if it were erroneously found, any such error was harmless.

ISSUE II: DID THE TRIAL COURT COMMIT REVERSIBLE ERROR BY STATING IT MUST GIVE GREAT WEIGHT TO THE JURY RECOMMENDATION OF DEATH WHERE THE TRIAL COURT INDEPENDENTLY AGREED WITH THAT RECOMMENDATION? (IB 32-35, RESTATED)

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